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Prologue
“We may have to ditch.” Gretchen had taken her portable oxygen mask off to talk to Helen and Linda at the rear of the aircraft and Helen could see she was ashen faced. “Charlotte has just seen the Captain and told me. We’ve got to get the passengers to put their life jackets on now. The PA system isn’t working so you’ll have to tell them all individually .”
Helen looked at Gretchen who was in charge of the economy section of the aircraft. 

“OK. How much time have we got? It’s going to be difficult while they’re still using oxygen masks.” 

“About thirty minutes Charlotte said. The Captain is still hoping to make St Antony but he thinks we need to be ready for ditching as we may not make it.”

For a brief moment Helen considered their predicament. It was bad enough that they’d had to shut down an engine but to have had a pressurisation failure as well didn’t seem fair. Gretchen had told them earlier that they would be diverting to St Antony instead of going to Barbados but now they were having to think about ditching. None of it made sense. Clearly it wasn’t their day. Something else must have gone wrong. 
She knew that there wouldn’t be time for everyone to put their lifejackets on when the aircraft started descending. Gretchen was right. They needed to start putting them on straightaway. She saw Linda, who together with her looked after the rear cabin and the rear doors in the event of an evacuation, going quickly to her side of the aircraft and Helen immediately started briefing her own passengers, commencing from the rear. 

Helen realised it was going to be very difficult to get everything done in time if they were really going to ditch, since they were still at twenty thousand feet and were all having to use oxygen masks to breath. Without the passenger address system working they were going to have to tell all the passengers what was happening, row by row. She took her mask off and spoke as quickly as she dared to each row on the possibility of ditching, and showed them where their life jackets were, told them to put them on but warned them, whatever happened, not to inflate them inside the aircraft. 

She couldn’t wait at each row to check that the life jackets had been put on correctly and she just hoped that they had all paid attention to the briefing at the beginning of the flight. She took deep breaths from her mask as she went from row to row. She was having to work both sides of the aisle on her side of the aircraft for the twelve rows in the section which she and Linda covered. When she got to the front of her cabin she decided to remind everybody how to put on life jackets by facing them as she put her own on. 
As she went to the back of the aircraft she looked at her watch and reckoned there might only be about ten minutes left before they landed or had to ditch. She wasn’t surprised to hear the engine note change and to feel the increasing pressure on her ears as the aircraft began to descend. She started checking at each row that they had got their life jackets on and, because time was so short, took the emergency sheet from the seat pocket in front of the passenger nearest to her in each row and made sure that they could all see the correct bracing position. She was very worried as some passengers were having trouble getting the life jackets on with the oxygen masks in the way so she told them all to forget about the oxygen masks since they were now much lower and asked the passengers who had been successful to help their neighbours. She took her own mask off to emphasise the point.

Back at the front of the cabin she glanced at her watch again and reckoned there could only be two or three minutes left before landing or ditching. She went quickly to the cabin attendant’s seat next to the rear door and, as she sat down, tried to remind herself what she had to do. Besides helping the passengers out of the door and into the slideraft, she had to take an emergency pack with her and also the locator beacon which transmitted its position to the emergency global satellite system. She got them both down next to her and decided to switch on the beacon so she wouldn’t forget.

Helen heard the note of the engine falter. She looked for runway lights through the window but saw none and realised that the ditching was really going to happen. She yelled “Brace, Brace” and then went to the brace position herself. She felt a shudder as the aircraft touched the water and then there was a sickening bang as it veered to the right. Just for a moment she was frozen wondering what was going to happen next and then remembered that every moment counted. She unbuckled her straps, rushed to the door, pulled the lever and thanked God as the door opened automatically into the darkness outside. There was an inrush of damp air from the black void. She could hear the air inflating the slideraft but she decided to pull the manual inflation lever to be sure. In fact she had to search to find it as the only illumination was the cabin emergency lighting which had come on as the aircraft ditched. She sensed that the water must be very close, only a few feet below the door sill.

The passengers started coming towards her and she could hear Linda yelling through the megaphone for people to leave the aircraft by the rear. She pushed the first man out of the aircraft and he fell into the water. The slideraft must have been slightly to one side. She tried to shout ‘inflate’ but the next passenger, a lady, got in the way as she jumped out, but this time Helen could hear the passenger dropping into the slideraft. The passengers now seemed to pour out, most stepping into the slideraft since the water level was now only just below the door opening. A few still missed and fell into the water. 

Suddenly the exit was blocked as two men fought each other to get out; one hit the other very hard on the side of the head so that he fell whimpering, blocking the door opening. Helen drew back as the man who had struck the blow tried to climb out over the almost unconscious body but there wasn’t enough room. He had to be helped by Helen to push the man into the slideraft. Once the body was in the life raft the man was able to get out and the struggling passengers behind immediately forced their way through.
Helen felt people pushing and hitting her and she realised that more and more passengers were beginning to struggle to get to the door and get out but all she could do was to assist each one through the door into the slideraft.

To her horror she could feel that the aircraft was rapidly going nose down and she found that she had to stand on the side of the seat in front of the door to hold her position. The water was beginning to pour over the side of the door and the entrance was now almost completely blocked by the slideraft. She could hear shouts of pain and screaming from the passengers as they realised that they might not escape in time. They were now fighting for their lives to get out. There was nothing she could do to calm things down and she concentrated on getting as many as she could safely out of the aircraft. It was very difficult with the slideraft blocking the door and it was necessary to push the raft back for each passenger to scramble out.
Water was now pouring into the aircraft through the door opening. She looked across to Linda’s side and saw that there the water was cascading in and there was no hope of getting out. 
Helen realised that the plane was about to sink and that she would have to leave to look after the slideraft even though there were going to be a lot of passengers left behind. She grabbed the emergency kit and the locator beacon and threw them into the slideraft. She knew it was imperative to release the slideraft from the aircraft and she had to push a man back to reach sideways to the bottom of the door to find and lift the flap which covered the separation handle. She just managed to force herself up and over into the slideraft as the side of the aircraft door sank beneath her with the water pouring in.
Helen looked back at the aircraft with its tail pointing vertically up to the sky and even in the almost pitch darkness she realised that no-one else would be able to get out as the water poured in. She looked with horror and disbelief as the aircraft slowly started to submerge with water now completely covering the rear door from which she had escaped, trapping the passengers inside but she could do nothing and there was no time to look. As she inflated her life jacket she saw to her dismay the line attaching the life raft to the plane tighten and then she remembered she had been taught that there was an open hook knife attached to the slideraft to cut the line. To her amazement she could feel the knife in the dark and somehow she managed to cut the line, just as the aircraft disappeared under the water.

But events were still crowding in on her and there was so much to think about. She picked up the locator beacon and threw into the water hoping it was working. She tore open the emergency pack and found the torch. She was able to find the flares and thankfully managed to get one to ignite and shoot up into the night sky, illuminating the terrible scene. 

She stopped for a moment and looked round. There seemed to be a lot of passengers in the life raft but she could also see some people in the water, clinging on to the rope attached to the outside of the raft. She shouted at a male passenger to help her drag one man in but they were only just strong enough between them and even then they could not have managed except the man they were rescuing still had enough strength to be able to help. She decided she had better light another flare and then she shouted at some other passengers who were not hurt to try to drag survivors in the water into the slideraft but really it was an almost impossible task. The people in the water were too heavy with their soaking clothes and were seemingly too weak to help themselves, so that only the lightest were able to be pulled in. 

Out of the corner of her eye she saw a flare and thankfully realised that there was another slideraft out there, almost certainly Linda. Suddenly she heard the sound of a boat’s engine and saw some navigation lights coming towards them. She shone the torch towards the navigation lights and a searchlight appeared. There were some men in the oncoming boat which she recognised as a fishing trawler and somehow she managed to help them tie the boat alongside the slideraft without trapping the people in the water. But still she couldn’t stop as the passengers needed help clambering up the steps attached to the fishing boat to get onto its deck. Then one of the crew stepped down into the slide raft to help her lift some of the weak and unconscious passengers into the boat. 
Finally it was done and she and the crewman were alone but when she came to the steps she found she wasn’t strong enough to climb up and the crewman had to help and push her up the steps until another crewman dragged her in. 

She sat breathless and exhausted on the deck for a few minutes but as she started to recover she saw that the passengers needed assistance with blankets and towels which the boat’s crew had produced. Somehow she found some strength and made herself help with the blankets but she barely knew what she was doing. Finally one of the crew sat her down and for a few minutes she was dead to the world.

DAY 1
The wind was whistling past my face and goggles as I skied down the slope turning and twisting, trying to avoid the moguls and other dangerous, but well marked, mounds of snow. My phone started to vibrate and then, thankfully, it stopped. I pulled up at the bottom of the slope and the phone started to vibrate again. I slowly started to take my gloves and goggles off, trying to reach the phone but it again stopped. Finally I got it out and looked at the caller. It had been from John Southern of Hull Claims Insurance in England. From experience of earlier aircraft accidents, I wasn’t sure I wanted to talk to him. A message came through which I didn’t bother to check since I was sure it would just be telling me that John had called. I reset my phone intending to call him when I had finished skiing but the phone rang again and this time I managed to answer it.
“Peter, where are you? The ringing tone sounded funny. Have you heard?”

“John, I’m skiing in the Snowy Mountains in Australia and am about to go up in the ski lift. I’ve heard nothing and from your tone, I’m not sure I want to.”

“Peter, we’re in trouble. A Worldwide Airlines aircraft has just landed in the water in the Caribbean near St Antony and we’re insuring the hull.”

“John, slow down for a moment. If I understand what you’re saying, an aircraft has ditched and your firm, Hull Claims, are liable. What sort of aircraft? Did anyone survive? What about the passengers, the crew?”

“Don’t know the aircraft yet but we insure all the Worldwide aircraft. Apparently some passengers escaped.”

“How do you know? When did it happen?”

“Six or seven hours ago. Not sure exactly. Just heard on the radio and the only information I’m getting is from CNN. Haven’t heard any real details. I told you. It only happened a few hours ago. The airline hasn’t called me yet.”

“Well there’s nothing I can do here, but thank you for letting me know.”

John’s voice went up an octave. “But we need you to go to St Antony and find out what happened, look after our interests.”

“You’re jumping the gun, John. Anyway, whatever happened you people are going to have to pay up. Don’t waste your money on me.”

“Peter, you’re wrong. It’s not as simple as that. For the airline to get the full amount for which the aircraft is insured, it has to show that it has been operated correctly within the rules. Furthermore, the aircraft must have been maintained correctly. It could be that we may only be liable for part of the full amount. We have to have someone on the spot during the accident investigation who understands how Hull Claims might be affected. That’s why we want you to go to St Antony.”

“Why don’t you go and get some more details John and then you can call me when I’m in my hotel; it’s the Rydges Hotel in Thredbo, New South Wales.”
“How long are you going to be in Australia? This could be terrible for us.”

I didn’t feel too sympathetic though I felt horrified just by the idea of such an accident. The thought of an airliner crashing into the sea full of passengers was too horrible to contemplate and yet apparently this had actually happened, and at night. If anybody had escaped it would be a miracle, unbelievable. 

Insurance companies like Hull Claims are very professional and would have taken into account all the risks and, if necessary, have laid off some of their potential liabilities. However, I made most of my living working for insurance companies so I couldn’t be too detached. I decided to cut my skiing short and go back to the hotel, a few hundred yards away, so I could get an update from John. I skied down the access slope to the side of the hotel where I removed my skis and went up on the special elevator reserved for skiers.
In spite of my desire not to get involved prematurely, I found myself doing some sums. The aircraft must have ditched on Tuesday, St Antony time, at night, about 2000 hours. I was amazed that anyone could have been saved in the dark. As far as I knew there had never been another airliner ditching at night and, if it was the twin engined ITAC 831, then the whole thing seemed even more unlikely, since inevitably one of the engines would hit the water first and the aircraft would be uncontrollable, almost certainly breaking up and probably somersaulting. The pilots must have done a superb job, not to mention the cabin staff faced with a virtually impossible situation.
Aircraft designers have to fit the aircraft with life rafts to be used in the case of ditching but in fact it is only really possible to visualise the life rafts being any good if the accident happens slowly, like an aircraft overshooting a runway and going in to the water, as might be imagined at airfields like Hong Kong. In fact the life rafts double as escape chutes, one for each emergency exit, which extend in the event of an emergency evacuation of the aircraft on the ground, hence the name sliderafts.
I switched my TV to CNN as I was getting ready for a shower. The newscaster was talking to a very businesslike looking lady in St Antony who turned out to be CNN’s local reporter. She seemed to be standing on a beach in the dark with lights illuminating the water breaking on the sands. It must have been quite warm there as she was only wearing what looked like a thin blouse and short skirt.
“All we know so far is that a Worldwide Airlines aircraft has landed in the water not far off the shore trying to land at Nelson airport. The coastguard centre in Cape Harbour has told us that there are some survivors being rescued by fishing boats.”
“Carol,” that appeared to be the name of the reporter, “what happened?”

“According to air traffic control at Nelson airport, the aircraft called them when they were about 90 miles away saying that they were trying to land at Nelson but might have to ditch. The airport radar tracked them in and then, when the aircraft was about five miles from the coast, the pilot made an emergency call saying they couldn’t make it and that they were going to have to land in the water. The tower told the coastguards who had already been alerted, and that was it.”
“Did the pilots say what the problem was?”

“Don’t know. If they did, then air traffic haven’t told us.”

“Carol, do you know what type of aircraft it was?”

“No. There is going to be a media briefing by air traffic later on. I’m not sure when.”

The interview ended not leaving the viewers a lot wiser. There wasn’t much more I could do until more details arrived. My guess was that we wouldn’t get a lot more information until it got light in St Antony in a couple of hours. I tried to work on some reports that I needed to complete on other jobs but it was difficult to concentrate. I gave up after a bit and decided to go down to the bar where I ordered a Coopers Pale Ale and a smoked salmon salad. I asked for CNN to be selected but apparently that wasn’t possible as it was necessary to watch the end of an Australian football match, Swans versus St Kilda, which puzzled me for a bit since I didn’t know there was another St Kilda apart from the one off the Scottish Hebrides. I went over to a table in the corner of the room where I could see a screen and started my salad. The football game must have ended and the barman must have relented as I suddenly noticed that CNN was now on the screen. There were only a few months left before the US Presidential election so this was clearly exercising CNN and, presumably, the viewers, judging by what seemed to be unending political coverage of who the candidates might be and how each one was performing. Luckily, text messages were appearing all the time at the bottom of the screen, most of them relating to the accident in St Antony.
Apparently one fishing boat had returned to Paradise Harbour with forty one survivors who had been rushed to Cape Harbour hospital. There were two other boats still searching. Another message said that the aircraft took off with 245 passengers and crew from Gatwick and that it had been going to Barbados. There was still no mention of the type of aircraft but as it was a Worldwide one I knew that it had to be an Independant Transport Aircraft Company aircraft manufactured in Seattle, either a four engined 798 or the twin engined 831.
The accident sounded unbelievable. It seemed incredible that it actually had to ditch and not land at Nelson when it was so close. I racked my brains trying to think of a reason for the aircraft having to land on the water. It shouldn’t have been short of fuel. Maybe there was a flying control failure of some sort, the aircraft was very advanced technically. But really, it just didn’t make sense. Perhaps they had had a fuel leak. Surely they must have said something. I knew I would have to be patient and wait for the news to dribble in slowly from St Antony. There must have been a failure of some type, but why hadn’t the pilot told someone?
The political briefing on the forthcoming United States election finally came to an end and the newsreader said that they were going back to St Antony to get the latest news. Carol appeared again.

“We have just heard that a second fishing boat has reached Paradise Harbour with sixteen survivors. It is just beginning to get light here and a coastguard helicopter is going to start searching. A Royal Navy minesweeper, which is visiting St Antony, has also just left Cape Harbour to help with the search for survivors and dead bodies.”

“Any official statements yet, Carol, from air traffic or from the airline?”

“The Prime Minister of St Antony is making a statement in half an hour at eight o’clock.”

I looked at my watch. It was 2030 Australian EST time, 1130 UK summer time and 0730 St Antony time. It should be broad daylight off the coast there and by now hopefully more survivors were being found. My phone rang, it was John again.
“They’ve got fifty seven survivors, Peter.”

“So I’ve just seen on CNN here. Any other news? Aircraft type?”

“The UK Minister of Transport is making a statement at nine o’clock.”

“What are the BBC and Sky saying?”

“Not very much at the moment as everyone is short of information. Hopefully Worldwide will be saying something very soon. Are you going to help us, Peter?”

“If you think I can. I’m planning to come home on Friday.”

“Why don’t you go straight to St Antony?”

“Thanks a lot. I’ve got my life to lead, John. I‘ve got things I must attend to. Do you know if the St Antony government have asked for help from AAIB? If they have, I can’t possibly go until I’ve spoken to AAIB as well as Worldwide.”

“You can do all that over the phone, can’t you?”

“Possibly. But we don’t know yet if AAIB is involved as well as the airline. You may have to help me with the phoning. Will let you know.”

“When will you be there?”

“John, I’ve just said that I’ll go to St Antony, but be reasonable. I don’t know yet. I haven’t checked the schedules but it might be quicker to go through London. Mind you, nothing is quick through London these days I’m sorry to say. Anyway as I told you, I’m not sure how I’ll be able to help.”

The London airports had acquired a terrible reputation for long delays at check-in and security and the airports themselves still left an awful lot to be desired. Huge queues at the airline check-in desks and airport security made travelling via London at peak times very unattractive, particularly with the arrival of the latest jumbo aircraft, the Airbus 380, with at the very least one hundred more passengers then the venerable Boeing 747. Even though it sometimes took longer, I tried to avoid using London and went via Southampton to either Paris, Frankfurt or Amsterdam. My current airline booking to UK was NWIA to Frankfurt and then BE to Southampton. The Government were doing what they could to improve things but it seemed to me that the whole concept was fatally flawed, since the airport operators now made their real profit from the shopping, not from shifting passengers.

Currently there was another advantage in avoiding London since the tickets from the European carriers seemed to be considerably cheaper; strangely some of the larger UK airlines had not grasped the fact that there really was a global economy and all airlines were only an internet click away.
John said he would ring again later before I went to sleep and I got my notebook out ready to listen to the St Antony Prime Minister. He appeared with a man next to him I instantly recognised. He was Tim Hardcastle, the chief air traffic control officer at Nelson airport, St Antony, who I had met a few years previously when an aircraft disappeared going to Bermuda.

The Prime Minister started by saying how sorry he was for the relatives of all the people who had died in the accident and that everything was being done to look after the survivors in the Cape Harbour hospital and nursing homes. He paid tribute to the coastguard and to the crews of the fishing boats that had rescued the survivors. He said that he wanted the cause of the accident to be found as quickly as possible and, as the aircraft was registered in the United Kingdom, he was asking the UK Government to allow their Air Accident Investigation Branch to help the St Antony Ministry of Transport staff. The manufacturers of the aircraft and the engines were also sending teams out to help in the investigation.
Tim Hardcastle then started to give the facts as far as he knew them.

“The aircraft was an Independant Transport Aircraft Company 831 flown by Worldwide Airways going from London Gatwick to Barbados. The flight was designated Worldwide 442 and the registration of the aircraft was G-WWAD, Golf Whiskey Whiskey Alpha Delta. We were called by Miami Center some three hours before the aircraft ditched, telling us that Worldwide 442 was diverting to Nelson airport here at St Antony instead of going to Barbados, having had a failure of the right engine. Apparently there was something wrong with the aircraft’s satellite radio as Miami centre lost contact with the plane. In due course the aircraft called Nelson approach on the normal VHF radio and we saw it on our radar fifty miles out. The pilot said he was trying to land at Nelson but might have to ditch. He then made an emergency call, when it was only four miles from the runway, saying that they were definitely ditching. The aircraft turned left and disappeared off the screen.”
The reporters in the room started to ask questions. Tim dealt with them very professionally. The key answer as far as I was concerned was in response to a question asking if the Captain explained the reason for the ditching.
“No, unfortunately the pilots did not at any time indicate why they had to ditch.”

There was nothing more that came out of the briefing. The important point for me was that the aircraft was an ITAC 831, which was a twin engined aircraft, and it was flying on one engine. I was wondering how I was going to be able to hear the UK Minister of Transport on the BBC when CNN announced that they would be taking the broadcast. I had another beer and sat down to wait. The Minster of Transport appeared not looking particularly smart and I had a rather difficult time trying to understand his strong Scots accent.
“We are not yet aware of all the details of this terrible accident but we are doing everything we can to help the relatives. A hot line for enquiries has been set up and the number will be on the screen at the end of this broadcast. The aircraft was on the British register and, at the request of the St Antony government, a team from our Air Accident Investigation Branch is on its way to St Antony to help the local authorities.”

“Minister,” the interviewer started probing “the aircraft is under water. Will it be possible to establish what happened?”

“Apparently the aircraft is very close to the coast in shallow water so there should be no difficulty in finding the crash recorders to establish what went wrong and ensure that it won’t happen again.”

“Minister, the ITAC 831 only has two engines and one of the engines had failed. A lot of people feel that an aircraft should have at least three engines when crossing the Atlantic or the Pacific to cater for a possible engine failure.”

I had to admire the Minister, he didn’t hesitate, he must have been well briefed. “That’s very old fashioned thinking. Aircraft with only two engines have been operating all over the world for many years because modern engines are so reliable. However, to put your mind at rest, twin engined aircraft always have to be within a safe distance from an airport and this distance is specified in the regulations and is being constantly reviewed by the certification authority.”

The interviewer had also been very well briefed. “But Minister, I believe the aircraft are allowed to be well over a thousand miles away from the nearest airport. That doesn’t sound too safe a distance.”

“Again that’s rather outmoded thinking. As I said, the engines are incredibly reliable so that a thousand miles on one engine is a trivial distance. We are taking risks all the time in our lives and the risk of a second engine failing after the first is negligible.” The minister paused. “What matters now is finding out what happened so we can ensure that it never happens again and, of course, supporting the survivors and their relatives. We’ve given instructions to our staff in St Antony to help the airline in every way.”

The interviewer gave up and CNN switched to other matters. I noticed that the Minister did not offer any government financial aid but then they never did. My phone rang almost immediately. It was John.
“Did you hear the broadcast?”

“Yes John, though I wish we had Ministers who did not have such strong accents.”

John made no comment. “I thought he did rather well. It’s a difficult subject. Though I have to say my sympathy has always been with the apocryphal passenger who, when he was asked why he had flown from New York in a four engined aircraft instead of coming earlier in a twin engined one replied ‘because there wasn’t a five engined aircraft available’.”

“Well if you feel like that you shouldn’t be insuring twin engined aircraft.”

“Peter, it must be safer to have four engines than two, particularly on these long routes.”

“Possibly John, but then it is all a matter of probability and the way twin engined aircraft are now designed ensures that they meet the required standard of safety, the certification standard if you like. They are ‘safe enough’. To make them any safer would make them too expensive to operate. Safety costs money.” 
“Peter, that’s as maybe. You understand these things better than I do. The point is we’ve heard the basic facts and AAIB are going out there now. We definitely want you there as well to make certain we understand all the issues.”

“Look, John, I’ve told you. I’m not going out without the airline being aware that I shall be there and without AAIB being informed. Have you told Worldwide yet that you are asking me to act for you? And have you told AAIB? You know how strict AAIB are about releasing information. They like to keep everything to themselves. It’s going to be very difficult for me to talk to them operating from here and then going direct to St Antony. I’ll have to think about it overnight.”
“Oh Peter, by the way,” I sensed there was going to be a complication, “we’re not covering the New Bristol Engine Company engines. NUBEC have a special arrangement with Worldwide which covers maintenance and includes any losses.”

“That sounds as if it could be very complicated. What happens if an engine fault caused the aircraft to crash? Whose going to be responsible for settling the passenger claims?”

“We would have to pay for the hull, unless it was due to faulty maintenance or operating procedures by the airline. I expect we would have to negotiate on the personal claims.”

I decided not to point out that any legal negotiation spelt interminable delays for the claimants and a bonanza for the lawyers. 
 Back up in my room I reviewed the situation. I had been away from the UK for two weeks instructing a batch of new pilots from New World International Airlines, based in Sydney, on the challenges and intricacies of interfacing with a modern digital flight deck. I was always very conscious that though the aircraft manufacturers did an amazing job trying to ensure that pilots would always do the right thing in failure as well as in normal conditions, an aircraft these days looked like a very advanced computer room and it was always necessary to remember that it had to be able to be flown safely by the airline’s worst pilot.

 It was winter in Australia but the weather in Sydney had been like a balmy English summer with temperatures around 22ºC. However, the thought of living in my own home again was becoming more and more attractive and I was very conscious that I was missing the best of the summer weather in England, though I could hardly complain at the winter weather I had been experiencing. 
Furthermore, I had had some bad news from England as Mandy, my girl friend of several years standing, had just sent me a long letter saying that she had decided to end our relationship. For some time we had been living together in my house at Kingston during the week and then spending most week-ends in her house in Bournemouth. She was a high powered London solicitor, very bright and very smart in every way, working in a big partnership. Perhaps she was getting fed up with my being away, travelling all over the world investigating aircraft incidents and accidents on behalf of various insurance firms or airlines. In addition, she probably wasn’t exactly enamoured of some of the ladies, girls, females, whatever, I had encountered in the course of my investigations. She knew as well as I did that the associations were only in the course of business and were not lasting relationships, but in these matters I had discovered that logic very often takes a back seat. I had tried ringing her in her office before leaving Sydney so that we could discuss the matter but she wouldn’t accept my call.

It didn’t help that one of the girls I had met, Liz Ward, was an Australian who Mandy had met in London when Liz had come to the UK to give evidence at a Public Inquiry.
 Perhaps I had been unwise mentioning that I was going to see her again. In fact I had had dinner with her and her husband Mike a few days previously in their spectacular house at Darling Point overlooking Sydney harbour. When the Inquiry had finished she had set up a very expensive fashion house in Sydney based on clothes she designed herself and Mike, after emigrating from the UK to marry Liz, now had his own aviation insurance business. I wasn’t sure how Liz was going to manage in three months time when their baby was due but that was definitely SEP, someone else’s problem.

I had tried to ring Mandy again without success when I got to Thredbo, where I was now taking a couple of days off before returning to England. I wondered whether the fact that the divorce with my long separated wife Diana had finally come through after several years might have brought matters to a head. Perhaps I should have proposed straightaway when we knew about the divorce, but I seem to remember I was very busy at the time. Not that that was a satisfactory reason these days with Skype and global emails. All very unromantic I realised ruefully; after all ‘where there’s a will there’s a way’, as Mandy would have realised. Perhaps subconsciously I wasn’t sure about settling down. Maybe Mandy, very understandably, felt unhappy that I hadn’t proposed or, possibly, she was expecting me to at any moment and she realised she would be forced to make her mind up whether to get married or not and she couldn’t face up to it. There could of course be an entirely different explanation in that she had found someone else. It was all too difficult and I decided to try to put the whole thing out of my mind, certainly until I got home.

This ditching near St Antony was for me an amazing coincidence because the NWIA pilots I had been teaching were about to take their technical examination on the 831 and the subject of twin engined operation had come up.

In a way it was a bit incongruous for me, not even a current airline pilot, to be instructing NWIA aircrew since they had their own instructors. However, I had built up a reputation in the specialist airline world, discussing how the new flight decks were in some ways very challenging should anything out of the ordinary ever go wrong, notwithstanding the enormous care the designers took in catering for malfunctions. In addition, I was now quite well known as a private investigator of aircraft accidents, representing airlines or insurance companies. People liked to question me on the lessons learnt from these occurrences. In some ways, being a freelance instructor and investigator gave me a wider experience of airlines and aircraft than the airlines’ own staff.

At my last lesson we had discussed the subject of operating twin engined aircraft over very long distances, as NWIA had to do flying across the Pacific. As the interview with the Minister had clearly demonstrated, the general public accepted that flying four engined aircraft across the world was an acceptable risk but people were worried doing the same thing if the aircraft only had two engines. The subject, as usual in the aviation world, had an acronym, ETOPS, Extended Range Twin Engined Operations. 

The whole success of the 831 and other long range twin engined aircraft, like the Boeing 777, Boeing 787 and the Airbus A330, relied on ETOPS and being permitted to operate a relatively long way away from diversion airfields. I had explained that the concept was that modern engines were so reliable that even if one engine had to be shut down, the aircraft could continue flying safely for hours at a time on the other one. As far as the current rules were concerned, this meant that the 831 was allowed to fly for three hours and twenty seven minutes on one engine and this distance at the single engine speed was taken as 1,450 nautical miles. NWIA therefore, in planning their 831 route structure, always had to make sure that the aircraft when flying across an ocean or across a continent was always within 1,450 nautical miles of an airfield on which it could land safely. In fact, with this distance it was possible for example for NWIA to use the 831 on their non-stop Los Angles/Sydney route using Honolulu and Nandi as the intermediate ETOPS airfields.

I had seen that the pilots in my class, like the BBC’s interviewer, were a bit surprised that aircraft were allowed to fly for such a long time on one engine but I had decided that I didn’t really want to spend the rest of the time talking about ETOPS. We were meant to be discussing, amongst other things, how the ITAC 831 flight deck displays ensured that, whatever the emergency, the information on the displays indicated to the pilots what had to be done. The aircraft had an ‘electronic flight bag’ with all the necessary operating and emergency information being displayed on screens so that there was no need for the pilot to carry with him out to the aircraft the heavy manuals telling him or her what to do. The paper manuals were still kept on the aircraft but, hopefully, would never need to be used. My worry, as always, was the possibility of an emergency no-one had thought of.
The point I hadn’t made to the NWIA pilots was that the ETOPS concept only worked providing all the systems of the aircraft, like the electrics, the hydraulics and the fuel supplies were as reliable as the engines. Twin engined aircraft had to be very carefully designed if the ETOPS distances that the airlines required for economic operation were going to be permitted; the European and United States certification agencies, EASA and FAA, had to be convinced that the whole aircraft, systems as well as the engines, met their safety requirements.
I switched on my computer and looked at the various airline schedules; it seemed that the quickest way to St Antony was via Los Angeles and Miami. It was going to take about twenty six hours actually travelling, but St Antony was thirteen hours behind so that if I was able to get a seat on the NWIA 8 pm from Sydney the following night I could be there about midday on Friday. I decided to call NWIA rather than book on line as I needed to cancel my Europe flights. I managed to get through without having too long a wait and the agent who answered me was very good. He managed to book me right through to Miami and, after some persuasion, found a suitable flight from there to St Antony with Caribbean Airways and I was all set.
Before going to sleep I sent a text message to John Southern telling him my ETA St Antony and reminding him to make sure Worldwide and AAIB knew I was on my way.
DAY 2
In the morning I decided to ring up Frank Westbourne, the boss of West Atlantic Airways in St Antony, who I knew as a result of finding out what had happened to one of his aircraft which had disappeared flying into Bermuda
. Luckily he was at home.

“Frank, Peter Talbert here. How’s things?”

“Peter, I was thinking of you when I heard of the ITAC 831 ditching. I suppose that’s why you’re phoning?”

“How did you guess? I wondered if you had heard anything or had spoken to someone. It’s a weird business.”

“Well by chance I saw Tim Hardcastle, you remember, head of Air Traffic, as I was going to my office. He was just going to the TV studios to make a statement with the St Antony PM, after being in the tower all night dealing with the emergency. He told me that he had been called in, of course, by the duty controller when Nelson air traffic had been alerted by Miami that an aircraft had had an engine failure and had lost satellite contact with the air traffic system. Miami had received a couple of relayed VHF reports from other aircraft that Worldwide 442 was heading for St Antony. Apparently the Captain said they were trying to land but that they might have to ditch. 
“Tim had alerted the coastguard main office in Cape Harbour and then, just as the aircraft was getting close to the airfield, it sent out a MAYDAY call saying it was ditching. The next thing he heard of the actual ditching was from the coastguard office. Fishing boats from Paradise Harbour had already been alerted by the coastguard and one of them had reported hearing an aircraft noise, seeing a landing light just above the water and then a loud noise, presumably the aircraft hitting the water. Apparently about ten minutes later two lots of emergency flares were seen and two fishing boats went towards the lights where they saw life rafts in the water with people in them and some more survivors in the water holding on to them. The boats rescued the survivors as best they could and went back to the harbour. They then went out again with another boat searching for more survivors and bodies. In fact there were emergency location transmitters, ELTs, on the rafts which alerted the air traffic system. Of course the fishing boats didn’t need to use the equipment to help in finding the rafts again since they had recorded the life rafts’ GPS positions. They managed to get a coastguard helicopter airborne but it couldn’t really help until it was light.”

“Do you know what’s happening now?”

“Not really. The survivors have been taken to St Mary’s hospital in Cape Harbour and the radio said that there were not enough beds. Luckily, it seems that there were two nursing homes that they’ve been able to use for the survivors who were not too badly injured.” He paused. “When are you coming out?”

“I’m planning to be with you Friday at midday coming in on a Caribbean Airways flight. Could you ask Susan to book me in the New Anchorage if she can and rent a car as well? I’ll call you again nearer the time. I need to talk to the airline and hear what communication passed between them and the aircraft. Also between air traffic and the aircraft. Not certain how I’m going to do that. Anyway, remember me to the others and I expect I’ll see you all soon. By the way, please don’t bother to meet me. It’s not as if I haven’t been to the island before.”
It was too late to call anyone in England so I checked out and got on the road to Sydney and the airport. The trip from Sydney to Thredbo on the way out had not been particularly interesting. I had felt a bit guilty not stopping in Canberra to see my contacts in the Australian air safety authority, CASA, and in the air traffic system, Airservices Australia, but had planned to do so on the way back. However, there was now no time to stop in Canberra and the trip back was even less interesting than going out. I decided that John Southern was definitely going to pay for my abortive visit to Thredbo, not to mention everything else. I felt particularly disappointed at not visiting Airservices Australia because of the work they were doing on aircraft automatically reporting their own GPS positions to air traffic instead of air traffic having to use expensive radars. It seemed to me that they were currently world leaders in using the technology.
At the airport, after checking in, I went up to the NWIA business class lounge. I consulted my watch for the umpteenth time; it was still too early to call the UK offices. On an impulse I called my home but nobody picked up to answer and my answering machine cut in.

“Mandy, if you’re listening, why don’t you pick up the phone?”
To my surprise she did.

“Because I don’t want to talk to you. I suppose you’re off to St Antony?”

“How did you know?”

“Because John Southern has been trying to contact you.”

“Mandy, I need to talk to you.”

“Why? You obviously got my letter.”

“I think we should discuss things.”

“Well we can never discuss anything these days as you are rarely at home.”

“I’ll call you when I’m in St Antony.”

“You needn’t bother. I’m thinking of taking a long holiday.”

“You can start at St Antony.”

“That would be my last port of call.”

“Good. I’ll wait for you to arrive.” There was an indescribably rude noise and the phone went dead.
I felt very frustrated but there was nothing more I could do. The ABC news announced that there was a total of sixty nine survivors from the ditching with some on the danger list out of 245 passengers and crew. I felt very sad as I finally retired for the night.
DAY 3
The NWIA flight left on time and I managed to get some sleep on the 14 hour flight. At Los Angeles it was still 1600 on Thursday. I had plenty of time to change to the American Airlines terminal and then go to their Admirals Club lounge to wait for the red eye special overnight flight to Miami. In the event the in-bound plane was forty five minutes late arriving so we left about an hour late. We arrived at 0730 on Friday leaving me only just enough time to change fingers at the terminal and catch the Caribbean Airlines flight to St Antony. I sent a text message to Frank and hoped for the best. I was almost past caring but was fairly confident I would never see my bag again.
Five hours later I finally arrived at St Antony and made my way to customs and immigration. It was slow going as both a British Airways and a Lufthansa flight had landed just ahead of us but it finally became my turn. The immigration officer looked at my passport and smiled.

“I see you’ve been here before, Mr Talbert. Haven’t we met?”

We’d met alright but I wasn’t going to enlighten him. He was

the one who only gave me three days to stay last time I was out and we had had to argue like mad to get extra time.

“Possibly. I was in and out a lot when I was here last.”

“I see you’ve put business as the purpose of your visit. What do you do?”

“I’m an insurance assessor and I’ve come here because of the accident to the Worldwide Airways aircraft the other night. Can you give me two weeks?”

He looked at me again and I think he must have remembered our previous meeting. He glanced again at my passport which showed that on the last occasion I had been given unlimited access, endorsed by the head of the immigration service. I was amused to see that when he gave me my passport back he had given me a month. I’ve always felt it is who you know that counts.
To my amazement my bag was waiting for me and customs let me through without my having to open it. Even better, Frank Westbourne was waiting for me which was a delightful surprise. He was still very thin but his hair was now completely grey though he still had a small dark moustache. It was impossible to miss him as he was wearing a suit and a tie while the rest of the world seemed to be on holiday.

“Frank, I thought we agreed you weren’t going to meet me?”

“My friend, there was no way I was going to let you land here without welcoming you after all you did for us. Everything is fine now and the airline is finally making money.”

“I’m so glad you’re here. I feel like a limp rag. I’ve been travelling for over twenty four hours. How’s the accident investigation? Have you heard anything?”

“Well the divers who are going to collect the crash recorders are now coming to-morrow according to the local TV and CNN. Because of the delay, Island Flights started advertising trips round the wreck which was a great success, but the police stopped them doing it to-day for some reason.”

“Round the wreck? Is it that close to the surface? If it’s that shallow surely they ought to have got the recorders off by now?”

“Actually, the radio says the aircraft is about 35 metres down but the water is so clear they reckon it is very easy to see.”

“But why haven’t they got the recorders off?”

“Not sure. Apparently the racking where the recorders were kept was badly bent and they need expert divers who have done this sort of work before. There were no people suitable in St Antony. By the way there’s been a development; apparently Jacko,” I was paying Frank my full attention, “you know the drug baron, was on board the aircraft with some of his henchmen. There’s a rumour flying around that there may have been some shooting on board. The police at Barbados were already lined up to meet them.”

“Where did you get that from?”

“The Announcer has it all over its front page to-day.”
“It must be true then.” I smiled with the disbelief showing on my face.

“It’s alright for you to sneer but there seems to be a very close link between Ben Master’s office and the newspaper. Anyway they may have got the information from Barbados.”

Ben Masters was the chief of police who again I had got to know very well when an aircraft from Frank Westbourne’s airline disappeared flying into Bermuda.
“By the way, I did manage to get Susan to book you a car with Hertz as well as making a reservation at the New Anchorage. Can you remember your way?” I nodded. “Well, when you’ve settled down give me a call, you must come over to the house for a meal. I know Pamela is looking forward to seeing you again.”

We separated and I made my way to the Hertz car rental desk, completed the formalities, took a map and wheeled my bags to the rental car lot. I chose a small Honda four door and the guard at the exit gate marked up my rental form. The roads hadn’t improved much but the hotel was still there, looking just as idyllic as ever with the palm trees swaying in the breeze and the blue sea breaking gently on the white sand. I parked in the front and checked in.

“Mr Talbert,” the girl looked at the reservation “you’ve been here before?” I didn’t argue “There is a message for you.” She gave it to me. “Would you like a room overlooking the pool?”

“No thank you. I’m working this time.” I was last time but it brought back memories I didn’t really need. “On the second floor overlooking the sea would be great.”

“Of course. No problem.” She looked at her screen. “Room 237. Do you need a hand with your bag?” I shook my head, went to the elevator, went up a floor and found my room at the end of a long corridor. I put my bags on the bed, turned the air conditioning down to avoid freezing and sat down to read my message. It was from the AAIB inspector, Tom Falconbury, who was in charge of the investigation in St Antony. He suggested I called him when I got in. He was also staying in the New Anchorage, room 156, but he had had the forethought to give me his mobile number. I dialled his room without success so I tried his mobile. A voice answered and we introduced ourselves. Tom was in the bar and I said I would be right down after a shower.

I unpacked my bag, sorted my things out and then had a shower and a shave. With some clean clothes I almost felt human again. I moved my car close to my room and then wandered along to the bar. A medium height, slightly blonde haired man came towards me; he was wearing a white shirt and long blue trousers, no tie.
“Peter Talbert?” I nodded assent. “I thought I recognised you from the pictures I saw in the papers during the enquiry into the loss of the ITAC 798 aircraft at Heathrow.”

We got four beers and went back to his table at the back of the bar area. Tom introduced me to Stanley Carstairs from AAIB, a specialist in dealing with crash recorders, and also to Ian Stapleton, the United States National Transportation Safety Board Accredited Representative.
“Tom, how long have you been out here?”

“Well the accident occurred on Tuesday night and we managed to get here late Wednesday night via Miami.”

“That’s pretty good going.”

“I’m sure you know we have to keep an emergency bag ready to go anywhere at anytime, but it was a wild rush because I had to bring a locator beacon receiver for finding the crash recorders with me. We went out first thing the next morning to the place where the aircraft had ditched and we’ve heard both recorders loud and clear. We had two local scuba divers with us and they dived down but reported that the aircraft had broken into two pieces and the part where the recorders were located was badly damaged. They could see what they thought was the rack with the two recorders coloured bright orange, but the rack was distorted and they couldn’t get the boxes out. I decided that we needed some divers who had been trained in sorting these problems out and we’re expecting them to-morrow from Miami.”

“Sounds as if you’ve got everything under control. Who did you use to take you out to the aircraft?”

“Emerald Diving. Why do you ask?”
“Just force of habit, Tom. Where are they based?”

“Cape Harbour. Bob warned me you were very inquisitive.”

“That’s not very polite! When did he tell you that?”

“Yesterday when he found out you were coming here representing the insurance company, but he also told me that you were always very helpful.”
“When you do get the recorders, what happens then? I believe St Antony want you do the investigation out here.”
“I know they do but there is no way we can analyse the recorders out here. Their Ministry of Transport man, Joseph Benjamin, appreciates this and so all he wants from me are regular reports on how we are getting on, to give to his boss at the Ministry. As I’m sure you know, we have very special equipment which cost a fortune installed in our labs at Aldershot, so we will send the recorders straight back to England for analysis.”
“Won’t that delay things?”

“Shouldn’t do if the memory modules are not damaged. The lab at Farnborough is very quick at getting a preliminary look at the data. They have duplicate aircraft recorders for virtually every UK registered aircraft flying and they just take the memory modules from the crashed aircraft’s recorder and plug it in to the recorder type matching the one in the aircraft and then download the data.”

Ian Stapleton, who had been listening attentively, cut in. “Have you been to the AAIB labs at Aldershot, Peter?” I shook my head. “You really should go there. It’s a fantastic set up. We have something similar in DC but not quite as up to date, I’m afraid.”
“Ian, are ITAC here yet?”

“Yes. They decided to send out Harry Markov as their representative here and he’s setting up office in the Golden Beach. I’m from our Seattle office and we travelled out together last night.”
“Are you staying here?”

“No. I’m in the Admiral Nelson.”

“Tom,” I decided it was time to try to get AAIB’s current view, “What do you think happened? Why did he have to ditch?”

“Pass. It’s all very odd. For some reason they lost their satellite radio shortly after they started the single engine cruise and so there was no further direct contact at all with either air traffic or Worldwide. There were a couple of relayed messages to Miami using VHF and then the next thing that happened was that the aircraft contacted St Antony on the approach VHF channel and sent out a PAN call. The airport radar could see the aircraft from about fifty miles lining up with runway 24. However, the Captain warned they might have to ditch and he confirmed it with a MAYDAY call just before they actually did it.”

“Did the Captain say what the problem was? Were there any clues?”
“Absolutely nothing apparently. I haven’t heard the tape from the tower yet but that was what the controller told me. There was no explanation at all.”

“The 831’s controls are electrically driven, aren’t they, not hydraulic like the older aircraft? Couldn’t that be a reason for the accident?”

“The aircraft has been fully certificated and flown for millions of miles. I would have thought that that was most unlikely to have suddenly got a fault, though I suppose it could happen.” 
“Well, might it have been fuel starvation of some type, either directly to the engines or perhaps to the digital engine controllers? Didn’t the British Airways Boeing 777 aircraft that had that miraculous escape landing at Heathrow have fuel problems?”

“Hang on a moment, Peter. It’s not certain that that 777 crash was due to fuel, though it might well have been.”

“Where was the cross feed cock on that aircraft?”

“I’ve no idea. It wasn’t my accident. Clearly, in our case the Captain knew there was a problem of some type but we don’t know what it was due to. With the Heathrow accident remember, the pilots had no idea there was a problem until both the engines ran down.” 
“Well with Alpha Delta couldn’t it have been simply a shortage of fuel?”

“But they should have had plenty of fuel. Losing an engine wouldn’t make the fuel reserve critical. It’s a complete mystery.”

“Well there’s got to be a reason. Why did the Captain say they might have to ditch?”

“Peter, it’s got to be either fuel or control problems. The sooner we see and hear the crash recorder data the better. To be honest, we’re wasting our time speculating when we’ll know for sure in a couple of days.”

 “What’s happened to the passengers? Have you spoken to any of them?”

“Yes, I managed to find two. For the record there were actually 245 people on the aircraft when it took off and there are 69 survivors though a lot of them are still in the two hospitals or in nursing homes of some type or another, but 30 people have been released. They are all trying to get away from here as fast as they can but I think it is taking time for them to get organised and of course most of them have no passports, money or clothes. Desperate. Worldwide seems to be doing a good job looking after them, though it is clearly very difficult. The two I saw were in the Central Hotel in Cape Harbour. Apparently the captain only made one announcement saying that he had had to shut down an engine. Then about ten minutes later the oxygen masks dropped down. The two I spoke to seemed a bit confused about what happened after that but shortly before they ditched the cabin attendants went round telling them all to put their lifejackets on and prepare for ditching.”

“Frank Westbourne, the boss of West Atlantic Airways, told me that there’s some story going around about Jacko, Jackson Turner, the drug baron, being on the aircraft and that some fighting may have taken place.”

“Yes, the situation is complicated because one of the survivors I spoke to saw what he thought was a fight in the business class and heard some bangs. There was something odd happening up front but we don’t know what. Of course, the only survivors we have are from the back of the aircraft so there is no one we can ask. Apparently the Barbados Government didn’t want Jacko or any of his mob in Barbados and it was their intention somehow to send them elsewhere if they could. When they learnt that the aircraft was going to come here they must have been over the moon. Barbados immigration told the St Antony police and immigration here immediately about Jacko when they heard that the aircraft was going there.”

“Did Jacko or any of his cronies survive?”

“Good question. Immigration have given Ben Masters a list of survivors and Ben is getting the UK Police to check them all. Jackson was flying business class and Ben tells me the other three were in the back.”

“How many crew survived?”

“Only the two cabin attendants in the rear of the aircraft.”

“Have you managed to speak to either of them yet?”
“No. One is still in hospital and the other is recovering somewhere and doesn’t want to talk to anyone.”
“How about the ditching itself? What did the survivors say?”

“Well there was a small shudder first, then an enormous bang and the passengers were thrown onto their straps in the brace position. The floor started to rotate down and they could see the water rapidly filling the front of the aircraft.” Tom half choked as he was telling me the story. “It sounded terrible, Peter. They both told me they could hear screaming as the aircraft sank. The two cabin attendants opened the rear doors very quickly by all accounts and they shouted for everybody to get out. Apparently one of the girls had a megaphone. One of the survivors I spoke to was right at the back and the cabin attendant helped her out of the door but she just missed the life raft and fell into the water. Luckily for her she remembered to inflate her life jacket and grab hold of one of the ropes on the side of the life raft. She thought she was going to die but two passengers managed to help her climb into the life raft.”

“It sounds desperate.”

“I haven’t finished yet. The other person, a man,” Tom looked at his notes “Charles Prentice, was ten rows further forward and his feet were already in the water. He scrambled upwards towards the doors by pulling himself up, grabbing seat after seat, with the water creeping up behind him. Of course there were all the other passengers trying to get out at the same time so it was a nightmare journey to the rear door. By the time he reached the door he reckoned he was about the last to leave. People were fighting like mad to get out. Let’s face it, Peter. It was survival of the fittest. There was very little of the cabin not under water, the floor seemed nearly vertical. The cabin attendant helped him clamber over the side of the door and he had to almost climb up to get into the life raft.”

“What about the cabin attendants?”

“Prentice said the girl on his side followed him. Probably because there was nothing more she could do. As I told you there’s one girl in hospital and I’m trying to find out about the other. It sounds, listening to Prentice, as if she might be alright. Flares were fired from his raft almost immediately so it was probably her. Later he saw flares from somewhere near which were almost certainly from the other life raft.”

Tom stopped, looking shattered. He still had his notes out.

“Do you know the name of the other passenger you spoke to?”

“Margaret Proudfoot.”

“Do you know where they are?”

“Worldwide has put all the rescued passengers up in hotels.”

“What are Worldwide doing?”

“Well David Winston, their deputy chief pilot, came out Wednesday with two engineers on the same plane as we did and we’ve been keeping him in the picture.”

“Does he have any ideas of what might have happened?”

“If he has, he hasn’t told me. He is particularly puzzled as he was on twenty four stand-by duty all day Tuesday and got the initial call from Alpha Delta about the engine problem.”
“What are their engineers here for?”

“I think in case I need any help. One is mechanical and the other is an electronics specialist.”

“I would have thought they would be wasting their time at this stage. You could always telephone the airline at Gatwick if you had a problem.”

“I know. But Winston seemed very keen to help.”

“Have you heard the Worldwide operations tape?”

“They don’t record all their communications with the aircraft. They don’t need to as far as we’re concerned as we can hear the conversations on the cockpit voice recorder. In fact I think they do record some of their in-flight communication but I’m not sure.”

“Who’s looking after the UK end for you?”

”Graham Prince. He’s checking with Worldwide about the recording. I must also talk to him and find out if the aircraft was fully serviceable or was carrying any Acceptable Deferred Defects, ADDs.”

I looked at my watch. It was only seven but I was beginning to feel very tired.

“Tom, you’ve been very helpful. Obviously the key thing is to get hold of the recorders. Maybe when you’ve got them and know a bit more we could talk again.”

I went up to my room and slept right through until six o’clock. I looked out at the ocean; it was still dark and all was quiet and peaceful. I could hear the sea breaking gently on the shore but I could not put out of my mind the horrifying vision of Alpha Delta diving into the sea four nights earlier. The sooner we found out what had happened the better.
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